
 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

 Before the 


SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 July 31, 2008 


ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-13109 

In the Matter of 

Lexington Resources, Inc., 
Grant Atkins, and 
Gordon Brent Pierce, 

Respondents. 

ORDER INSTITUTING CEASE-AND-DESIST 
PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT TO SECTION 
8A OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND 
SECTION 21C OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

I. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) deems it appropriate that cease-
and-desist proceedings be, and hereby are, instituted pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act 
of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and Section 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange 
Act”) against Lexington Resources, Inc. (“Lexington”), Grant Atkins (“Atkins”) and Gordon Brent 
Pierce (“Pierce”) (collectively “Respondents”). 

II. 

After an investigation, the Division of Enforcement alleges that: 

Nature of the Proceeding 

1. This matter involves the unregistered distribution of stock in a Las Vegas 
microcap company, allowing a Canadian stock promoter to reap millions of dollars in unlawful 
profits without disclosing to investors information mandated by the federal securities laws.  
Between 2003 and 2006, Lexington Resources, Inc., a purported oil and gas company, and its 
CEO and Chairman Grant Atkins, issued nearly five million shares of Lexington common stock 
to promoter Gordon Brent Pierce and his associates.  Pierce and his associates then spearheaded 
a massive promotional campaign, including email spam and mass mailings.  As Lexington’s 
stock price skyrocketed to $7.50 per share, Pierce and his associates resold their stock to public 
investors through an account at an offshore bank, netting millions of dollars in profits; 
Lexington’s operating subsidiary subsequently filed for bankruptcy and its stock now trades 
below $0.02 per share. 



2. Lexington’s issuance of stock to Pierce was supposedly covered by Form S-8 
registration statements, a short form registration statement that allows companies to register 
offerings made to employees, including consultants, using an abbreviated disclosure format.  
Form S-8 is to be used by issuers to register the issuance of shares to consultants who perform 
bona fide services for the issuer and are issued by the company for compensatory or incentive 
purposes. However, Form S-8 expressly prohibits the registration of the issuance of stock as 
compensation for stock promotion or capital raising services.  Pierce provided both of these 
services to Lexington, and thus the registration of these issuances of shares purportedly pursuant 
to Form S-8 was invalid.  As a result, both Lexington’s sales to Pierce, and Pierce’s sales to the 
public, were in violation of the registration provisions of the federal securities laws. 

Respondents 

3. Lexington is a Nevada corporation formed in November 2003 pursuant to a 
reverse merger between Intergold Corp. (“Intergold”), a public shell company, and Lexington 
Oil and Gas LLC, a private company owned by an offshore entity.  In connection with the 
reverse merger, Intergold changed its name to Lexington Resources, Inc. and Lexington Oil and 
Gas became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lexington Resources, Inc.  Lexington’s common 
stock is registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and 
quoted on the pink sheets under the symbol “LXRS.”  On March 4, 2008, Lexington’s primary 
operating subsidiary, Lexington Oil and Gas, filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy.  The petition was 
converted to a Chapter 7 liquidation on April 22, 2008.  Lexington’s only other operating 
subsidiary filed for Chapter 7 liquidation on June 11, 2008. 

4. Grant Atkins has been CEO and Chairman of Lexington since its inception in 
November 2003 and was CEO and Chairman of Lexington’s predecessor, Intergold.  Atkins, 48, 
is a Canadian citizen residing in Vancouver, British Columbia. 

5. Gordon Brent Pierce has acted as a “consultant” to Lexington and other issuers in 
the U.S. and Europe through various consulting companies that he controls.  Pierce, 51, is a 
Canadian citizen residing in Vancouver, British Columbia and the Cayman Islands. 

Facts 

Lexington and Atkins Issued Millions of Shares to Pierce Using Form S-8 

6. On November 19, 2003, Atkins and Pierce formed Lexington through a reverse 
merger between Intergold (at that point a non-operational shell company) and Lexington Oil and 
Gas, a new private company owned by an offshore entity set up by Pierce.  Atkins became the 
sole officer and director of Lexington, a purported natural gas and oil exploration company. 

7. Within days of the reverse merger, Atkins caused Lexington to file a registration 
statement on Form S-8 and immediately began issuing stock to Pierce and several of Pierce’s 
longtime business associates.  Between November 2003 and March 2006, Atkins caused 
Lexington to issue more than 5 million shares to Pierce and his associates purportedly registered 
on Form S-8.  Pierce told Atkins who should receive the shares and how many. 

2




8. Form S-8 is an abbreviated form of registration statement that may be used to 
register an issuance of shares to employees and certain types of consultants; Form S-8 does not 
provide the extensive disclosures or Commission review required for a registration statement 
used for a public offering of securities. A company can issue S-8 shares to consultants only if 
they provide bona fide services to the registrant and such services are not in connection with the 
offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, and do not directly or indirectly 
promote or maintain a market for the registrant’s securities. 

9. Contrary to the express requirements of Form S-8, Pierce served as both a stock 
promoter and capital-raiser for Lexington.  During the entire period from late 2003 to 2006, 
Pierce personally met with individual and institutional investors to solicit investments in 
Lexington and directed an investor relations effort that included speaking with and distributing 
promotional kits to thousands of potential investors.  Pierce used some of his S-8 stock to 
compensate others who helped with this effort.  Pierce also coordinated an extensive promotional 
campaign for Lexington through spam emails, newsletters, and advertisements on investing 
websites. All of these services promoted or maintained a market for Lexington stock and 
therefore could not be compensated with securities registered pursuant to Form S-8. 

10. Pierce’s stock promotion campaign was successful.  From February to June 2004, 
Lexington’s stock price increased from $3.00 to $7.50 per share, with average trading volume 
increasing from 1,000 to about 100,000 shares per day.  (The price subsequently collapsed, and 
the stock currently trades at under $0.02 per share.) 

11. Pierce also engaged in extensive capital-raising activities on behalf of Lexington, 
contrary to the plain terms of Form S-8.  Pierce raised all of the capital for Lexington’s first year 
of drilling operations by finding investors to provide loans to Lexington.  He transferred some of 
his S-8 shares to these investors. Pierce also raised capital for Lexington by selling most of his 
S-8 shares through an offshore company that he operated, and funneling money back to 
Lexington and Atkins. 

12. Lexington and Atkins also issued shares under Form S-8 to indirectly raise capital 
and exhibited control over the resale of shares by arranging to have individuals who received S-8 
shares pay off Lexington’s pre-existing debts. 

13. Lexington’s purported registration of stock issuances to Pierce on Form S-8 was 
invalid because Pierce was performing services expressly disallowed for Form S-8 registrations.  
By failing to register the issuance of shares to Pierce and his associates, Lexington failed to make 
all of the disclosures to the public for the registration of the issuances of shares for capital-raising 
transactions as required by law. 

Pierce Engaged in a Further Illegal Distribution of Lexington Stock 

14. After receiving the shares from Lexington, Pierce engaged in a further illegal 
distribution of his own. Pierce acted as an underwriter because he acquired the shares with a 
view to distribution. Almost immediately after receiving the shares, Pierce transferred or sold 
them through his offshore company. 
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15. Pierce and his associates deposited about 3 million Lexington shares in accounts 
at an offshore bank. Between February and July 2004, about 2.5 million Lexington shares were 
sold to the public through an omnibus brokerage account in the United States in the name of the 
offshore bank, generating sales proceeds of over $13 million. 

16. Pierce personally sold at least $2.7 million in Lexington stock through the 
offshore bank in June 2004 alone. Pierce’s sales were not registered with the Commission. 

Pierce Failed to File Reports Disclosing His Stock Ownership 

17. During most of the period from November 2003 to May 2004, Pierce owned or 
controlled between 10 and 60 percent of Lexington’s outstanding stock.  Pierce did not file the 
required Schedule 13D until July 25, 2006, however. 

18. In the belatedly-filed Schedule 13D, Pierce inaccurately stated that he owned or 
controlled between 5 and 10 percent of Lexington’s outstanding stock during late 2003, early 
2004, and early 2006. In reality, Pierce owned or controlled more than 10 percent of 
Lexington’s stock during most of the period from November 2003 to May 2004. 

19. Although Pierce regularly traded Lexington stock in the open market for entities 
he controlled during 2004, Pierce never reported his ownership or changes in ownership on 
Forms 3, 4 or 5. 

Violations 

20. As a result of the conduct described above, Respondents Lexington, Atkins, and 
Pierce violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act, which, among other things, unless a 
registration statement is on file or in effect as to a security, prohibit any person, directly or 
indirectly, from: (i) making use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication 
in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell such security through the use or medium of any 
prospectus or otherwise; (ii) carrying or causing to be carried through the mails or in interstate 
commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, any such security for the purpose of 
sale or for delivery after sale; or (iii) making use of any means or instruments of transportation or 
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the 
use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has 
been filed as to such security. 

21. Also as a result of the conduct described above, Respondent Pierce violated 
Sections 13(d) and 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rules 13d-1, 13d-2, and 16a-3 thereunder, 
which require: (i) any beneficial owner of more than five percent of any class of equity security 
registered under Section 12 to file a statement with the Commission within 10 days containing 
the information required in Schedule 13D and promptly to file an amendment to Schedule 13D if 
any material change in beneficial ownership occurs, and (ii) any beneficial owner of more than 
ten percent of a class of equity security registered under Section 12 to file an initial statement of 
ownership on Form 3 within 10 days, statements of changes in ownership on Form 4 within two 
business days, and annual statements of ownership on Form 5 within 45 days of year-end. 
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III. 


In view of the allegations made by the Division of Enforcement, the Commission deems it 
necessary and appropriate that cease-and-desist proceedings be instituted to determine: 

A. Whether the allegations set forth in Section II are true and, in connection therewith, 
to afford Respondents an opportunity to establish any defenses to such allegations; 

B. Whether, pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act, all Respondents should be 
ordered to cease and desist from committing or causing violations of and any future violations of 
Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act; 

C. Whether, pursuant to Section 21C of the Exchange Act, Respondent Pierce should 
be ordered to cease and desist from committing or causing violations of and any future violations of 
Sections 13(d) and 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rules 13d-1, 13d-2, and 16a-3 thereunder; and 

D. Whether Respondent Pierce should be ordered to pay disgorgement pursuant to 
Section 8A(e) of the Securities Act and Section 21C(e) of the Exchange Act. 

IV. 

IT IS ORDERED that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the questions 
set forth in Section III hereof shall be convened not earlier than 30 days and not later than 60 days 
from service of this Order at a time and place to be fixed, and before an Administrative Law Judge 
to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 110 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 
17 C.F.R. § 201.110. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents shall file an Answer to the allegations 
contained in this Order within twenty (20) days after service of this Order, as provided by Rule 220 
of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.220. 

If Respondents fail to file the directed answer, or fail to appear at a hearing after being duly 
notified, the Respondents may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be determined against 
them upon consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be deemed to be true as 
provided by Rules 155(a), 220(f), 221(f) and 310 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. 
§§ 201.155(a), 201.220(f), 201.221(f) and 201.310. 

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondents personally or by certified mail. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Administrative Law Judge shall issue an initial 
decision no later than 300 days from the date of service of this Order, pursuant to Rule 360(a)(2) of 
the Commission’s Rules of Practice. 

In the absence of an appropriate waiver, no officer or employee of the Commission engaged 
in the performance of investigative or prosecuting functions in this or any factually related 
proceeding will be permitted to participate or advise in the decision of this matter, except as witness 
or counsel in proceedings held pursuant to notice.  Since this proceeding is not “rule making” within 
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the meaning of Section 551 of the Administrative Procedure Act, it is not deemed subject to the 
provisions of Section 553 delaying the effective date of any final Commission action. 

 By the Commission. 

        Florence  E.  Harmon
        Acting  Secretary  
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